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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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INRE: E. I. DU PONT DE

NEMOURS AND COMPANY C-8

PERSONAL INJURY LITIGATION,
Civil Action 2:13-md-2433
CHIEF JUDGE EDMUND A. SARGUS, JR.
Magistrate Judge Elizabeth Preston Deavers

This document relates to:

Bartlett v. E. I. du Pont de Nemours and
Company, Case No. 2:13-CV-0170

Wolf v. E. I. du Pont de Nemours and
Company, Case No. 2:14-CV-0095

DISPOSITIVE MOTIONS ORDER NO. 7

Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Punitive Damages

This matter is before the Court on Defendant’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on
| Punitive Damages in the Bartlett and Wolf Cases (ECF No. 2825), Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in
Opposition (ECF No. 3194), and Defendant’s Reply (ECF No. 3557). For the reasons that
follow, the Court DENIES Defendant’s Motion.
I
Defendant E. 1. du Pont de Nemours and Company (“DuPont™) directs its Motion to the
punitive damages claims brought by Plaintiff Carla Marie Bartlett and Plaintiff John M. Wolf,
the first two Plaintiffs selected for trial (“Trial Plaintiffs”) in this multidistrict litigation
(“MDL”). Mrs. Bartlett’s case is scheduled for trial on September 14, 2015, and Mr. Wolf will

take his case to trial on November 30, 2015,
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The Trial Plaintiffs both allege that they are members of the class (“Leach Class™) of
individuals who are permitted under a contractual agreement (“Leach Settlement Agreement”) to
file claims against DuPont based on injuries that they believe were caused by their exposure to
ammonium perfluorooctanoate (“C-8 or “PF OA”) discharged from DuPont’s Washington
Works plant. (Leach Settlement Agreement; ECF No. 820-8.) The Leach Settlement Agreement
established a panel of appropriately credentialed e pidemiologists (“Science Panel™) to study
human disease among the particular group of individuals who were exposed to C-8 by drinking
water that was contaminated with C-8 that had been discharged from DuPont’s Washington
Works plant into their drinking water. /. §§ 12.2.1,12.2.2.

In 2011 and 2012, the Science Panel delivered Probable Link Findings for six human
diseases (“Linked Diseases™). Mrs. Bartlett alleges that she suffered from kidney cancer and Mr.
Wolf claims that he suffers from ulcerative colitis. Both of these human diseases are Linked
Diseases. The Trial Plaintiffs and the other plaintiffs in the approximately 3500 cases in this
MDL have alleged, inter alia, claims for personal injury and punitive damages.

1L

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the movant shows that there is no genuine issue as
to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed, R. Civ. P.
56(a). The Court may therefore grant a motion for summary judgment if the nonmoving party
who has the burden of proof at trial fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence
of an element that is essential to that party’s case. Celotex Corp. v. Catrert, 477 U.S. 317, 322
(1986). The “party seeking summary judgment always bears the initial responsibility of
informing the district court of the basis for its motion, and identifying those portions™ of the

record which demonstrate “the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” /d. at 323. The
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burden then shifts to the nonmoving party who “must set forth specific facts showing that there is
a genuine issue for trial.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986) (quoting
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(¢)). “The evidence of the nonmovant is to be believed, and all justifiable
inferences are to be drawn in [its] favor.” /d. at 255 (citing Adickes v. S. H. Kress & Co., 398
U.S. 144, 158-59 (1970)). A genuine issue of material fact exists “if the evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248. See
also Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Lid. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986) (the |
requirement that a dispute be “genuine” means that there must be more than “some metaphysical
doubt as to the material facts”). Consequently, the central issue is ““whether the evidence
presents a sufficient disagreement to require submission to a Jury or whether it is so one-sided
that one party must prevail as a matter of law.”” Hamad v. Woodcrest Condo. Ass’n, 328 F.3d
224, 234-35 (6th Cir. 2003) (quoting Anderson, 477 U.S. at 251-52).
I11.

This Court has issued numerous decisions in this MDL. Some of the Dispositive Motions
Orders (“DMOs”) and Evidentiary Motions Orders (“EMOs”) impact the instant analysis. To
begin with, in DMO 3 the Court determined that Mrs. Bartlett’s case will be tried under the law
of Ohio, and that West Virginia law governs Mr. Wolf's claims. (DMO 3, Choice of Law; ECF
No. 3551.)
A. Standard for Punitive Damages

Under Ohio law, punitive damages are recoverable in a tort action when compensatory
damages have already been awarded and “the actions or omissions of thie] defendant
demonstrate malice or aggravated or egregious fraud.” Ohio Rev. Code § 2315.21(C). An Ohio

plaiﬁtiff bears the burden of establishing by clear and convincing evidence that he or she is
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entitled to recover punitive damages. /d. § 2315.21(D)(4); Charles R. Combs Trucking, nc. v.
Int'l Harvester Co., 12 Ohio St. 3d 241, 245 (1984). The “actual malice, necessary for an award
of punitive damages, is (1) that state of mind under which a person’s conduct is characterized by
hatred, ill will or a spirit of revenge, or (2) a conscious disregard for the rights and safety of other
persons that has a great probability of causing substantial harm.” Preston v. Murty, 32 Ohio St.
3d 334,336 (1987). The parties direct their arguments to the latter definition.

Similar to the standard under Ohio law, to sustain a claim for punitive damages under
West Virginia law a plaintiff must show that the wrongful act was done “maliciously, wantonly,
mischievously, or with criminal indifference to civil obligations.”  Commonwealth Tire Co. v.
Tri-State Tire Co., 193 S.E.2d 544, 549 (W. Va. 1972). The parties disagree as to whether West
Virginia requires a clear and convincing or a preponderance of the evidence standard. West
Virginia Senate Bill 421, which became effective June 8, 20135, sets the standard as clear and
convincing. Mr. Wolf argues, however, that the statute is inapplicable to his claim because a
statute that diminishes substantive rights is “not applied retroactively to events completed before
the effective date of the statute .. . unless the statute provides explicitly for retroactive
application.” (Pls.” Mem. in Opp. at 34) (citing Pub. Citizen, Inc. v. First Nat’l Bank in
Fairmont, 480 S.E.2d 538, 543-44 (W. Va. 1996) (citing cases)). Because the Court determines
herein that even under the clear and convincing standard there are genuine issues of material fact
as to whether the Trial Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages, it is unnecessary to resolve this
dispute at this time. The barties may-address the issue further when submitting their proposed

Jury instructions prior to Mr. Wolf’s trial.
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B. Analysis

DuPont moves for summary judgment on the issue of punitive damages, arguing that “no
reasonable jury could find that DuPont acted with the requisite mental state to warrant an award
of punitive damages.” (DuPont’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 2.) To support its position, DuPont
offers the following:

As a matter of law, based on the undisputed facts, DuPont has not engaged
in any conduct that would allow the imposition of punitive damages under Ohio
or West Virginia’s heightened standards, both of which require plaintiffs to show
actual malice by a clear and convincing standard. Indeed, rather than any malice
or disregard for safety, the evidence instead shows that DuPont exhibited a
proactive concern for safety in its use of PFOA at its Washington Works plant,
consistently going beyond the regulatory requirements and the typical conduct of
most chemical companies. Among many other things, as shown below in this
brief, in an effort to have a safe environment for its workers and the community, it
is undisputed that DuPont:

¢ Complied with all MSDS (material safety data sheets) and safe
handling instructions received from the manufacturer and supplier
of PFOA, 3M Company (“3M™), and timely acted upon other
information supplied by 3M;

* Took the initiative to independently study and gather' information
related to PFOA, notwithstanding the fact that it was not the
manufacturer of the chemical, and no law or regulation required it
to do so;

 Proactively set extremely conservative guidance levels for
exposure to PFOA that had safety factors 100s and 1,000 times
below where adverse effects had been seen in animal studies, and
that were far below the safe lifetime exposure levels that were
subsequently set by [the American Conference of Governmental
Industrial Hygienists (“ACGIH”), 3M and the West Virginia C-8
Assessment of Toxicity Team (“CATT”);

» Monitored personal and area PEOA exposure levels, blood levels,
and the health of its workers who came into contact with PF OA,
and added scrubbers and filters to reduce emissions to maintain the
exposure levels below all the guidance exposure limits established
for workers by ACGIH, 3M and DuPont;
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* Monitored community exposure levels and kept community
levels of exposure far below where any harm was expected based
on the animal studies, and far below the much higher workplace
exposures that had not been found to cause any disease in 3M
workers or DuPont workers;

* Kept its employees (who lived in the community, with their
families and friends) informed about the results of animal and
other scientific studies on PFOA;

* Responded to and reasonably acted upon new information
relating to PFOA as it was received;

* Pursued more precise, more sensitive, more selective and more
accurate analytical methods for measuring trace levels of PF OA;

¢ Developed and adopted new measures and equipment to control
PFOA emissions; and

* Communicated and worked with regulatory agencies to evaluate
and voluntarily limit PFOA emissions and exposures.

In addition, the undisputed evidence shows that while taking the above steps,

DuPont never believed that there was any probability that PFOA exposure at

the extremely low levels found in drinking water around the Washington Works

plant would cause human disease.
(DuPont’s Mot. for Summ. J. at 1-2.) DuPont relies upon evidence in the historical record,
which spans decades and encompasses millions of documents, and the opinions of numerous
defense expert witnesses to support the above-listed facts.

The Trial Plaintiffs respond that the facts set forth by DuPont are not undisputed, nor are
the conclusions reached from consideration of those facts. The Trial Plaintiffs rel y on the same
historical record and numerous expert witness’ opinions offered to support their position that a

reasonable jury could conclude that the evidence clearly and convincing shows that DuPont’s

conduct was sufficiently egregious to warrant the imposition of punitive damages. This Court

agrees.
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The Trial Plaintiffs offer expert testimony that directly disputes much of the evidence
upon which DuPont relies. The Court addressed the admissibility of these expert witnesses and
the testimony they offer in EMO1, EMO 2 and EMO 3. (ECF Nos. 4079, 4129, 4178.) A
review of those decisions leaves no doubt that the parties vigorously dispute what DuPont knew
about the potential dangers of C-8 and when it knew it. By way of example, the Trial Plaintiffs
offer admissible expert testimony of the following;:

* DuPont knew about the nature, extent, and significance of C-8 and its
concentration and hazards to its employees, the public, governmental agencies,
and the environment and yet increased its release of C-8 from the Washington
Works plant. (Steven Amter, B.S., M.S., Expert Report at ECF No. 2702-2; Dep.
Tr. at ECF No. 3066-3.)

* DuPont discharged vast quantities of C-8 into the environment around the
Washington Works plant resulting in contamination of area drinking water
supplies and failed to disclose the contamination to regulators and those exposed
to the contaminated drinking water, despite early (1950s and 1970s) concerns
about 1) danger to groundwater, 2) environmental persistence, 3) toxicity and
biopersistence, 4) landfilling, and 5) risks to employees. Id.

* Methods used by DuPont to measure the concentration of PFOA in water are not
accurate and have led to reported levels of PFOA in drinking water supplies that
are lower than the true value. (James S, Smith, Ph.D., CPC, Expert Report at ECF
No. 3441-9; Dep. Tr. at ECF No. 2809-12.)

* DuPont was aware that the PFOA levels in drinking water were reported lower
than the true concentration values, and DuPont had the knowledge and expertise
to correct the discrepancy in the data. /d.

* DuPont’s analytical sampling and analysis during the three decades of
qualitative and quantitative analysis of PFOA for the health and safety of
employees and the Washington Works plant community are questionable due to
accuracy, precision, representativeness, completeness, and comparability
concerns. DuPont’s analysis led to the underestimation and underreporting of
PFOA concentrations. d.

* DuPont failed to adequately follow up on positive findings from animal studies
and human epidemiology studies on C-§ risks/diseases. (Barry S. Levy, M.D,,
M.P.H., Expert Report at ECF No, 2702-4; Dep. Tr. at ECF No. 2809-7).
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* DuPont misled government officials and the general public about the health and
safety of C-8 and its presence in drinking water. d.

° DuPont failed to adequately inform its employees and consumers of drinking
water about the health risks of C-8. /4.

* DuPont violated established scientific standards in interpreting the results of C-8
health studies, manipulating its health standards and deviating from scientific

principles. (Michael B. Siegel, M.D., M.P.H., Expert Report at ECF No. 2702-5:
Dep. Tr. at 2809-10.)

This evidence disputes DuPont’s claim that it “never believed that there was any
probability that PFOA exposure at the extremely low levels found in drinking water around the
Washington Works plant would cause human disease.”

Further, the Trial Plaintiffs point to evidence that they contend shows that DuPont itself
was aware that its conduct exhibited actual malice at least by 2000, fifteen years ago, when its
in-house counsel handlin g the C-8 litigation addressed it in an email:

We are going to spend millions to defend these lawsuits and have the additional

threat of punitive damages hanging over our head. Getting out in front and acting

responsibly can undercut and reduce the potential for punitives. Bernie [Reilly]

and I have been unsuccessful in even engaging the clients in any meaningful

discussion of the subject. Our story is not a good one, we continued to increase

our emissions into the river in spite of internal commitments to reduce or

eliminate the release of this chemical into the community and the environment

because of our concern about the biopersistence of this chemical.
(Pls.” Mem. in Opp. at 3) (citing, inter alia, Plaintiffs’ Third MSJ Aff. Ex. C, Tab 35 at 204; ECF
No. 2820-4).

The Trial Plaintiffs additionally highlight evidence in the historical record regarding what
they assert is a “deliberate, intentional corporate strategy to ‘shape the debate at all levels,’ [that
was] aggressively pursued by DuPont” as reflected in a letter from one of DuPont’s consulting

firms, the Weinberg Group:

The primary focus of this endeavor is to strive to create the climate and conditions




Case: 2:13-md-02433-EAS-EPD Doc #: 4185 Filed: 08/19/15 Page: 9 of 10 PAGEID #: 80099

that will obviate, or at the very least, minimize ongoing litigation and
contemplated regulation relating to PFOA. This would facilitate the publication
of papers and articles dispelling the alleged nexus between PFOA and
teratogenicity as well as other claimed harm. We would also lay the foundation

for creating Daubert precedent to discourage additional lawsuits. . . . This battle
must be won in the minds of the regulators, judges, potential jurors, and the
plaintiff’s bar. . . . Manufacturers must be the aggressors.

(PIs. Mem. in Opp. at 4-5) (citing Ex. H; ECF No. 3194-9). The proposal also included a plan
to “construct[] a study to establish . . . that PFOA is safe,” “illustrate how epidemiological
association has little or nothing to do with individual causation” and “shape the Daubert
standards in ways most beneficial” to DuPont. /d.

While DuPont denies that it accepted the proposals offered by the Weinberg Group, the
Trial Plaintiffs contend that DuPont’s actions belie its assertion. For example, DuPont offers the
former senior Vice President of The Weinberg Group, Douglas L. Weed, M.D., M.P.H., Ph.D.,
as an expert witness who opines that the epidemiological association data on C-8 has little or
nothing to do with individual causation.! The Trial Plaintiffs maintain that this is exactly what
the Weinberg Group suggested in its proposal.

The very issue before this Court was addressed in a well-reasoned decision of a sister
district court in another C-8 groundwater contamination case. In Paulson v. 3M Co., No. 82-C2-
04-6309, slip op. at 6-7 (Minn. Dist. Ct. Mar. 13, 2009), the defendant 3M moved for summary
Judgment on the plaintiffs’ punitive damages claims. (Pls. Third Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. E; ECF
No 2820-6.) Minnesota applies a clear and convincing standard to claims for punitive damages.
In denying the defendant’s motion, the Court stated:

This Court notes that the parties have presented literally thousands of documents

and exhibits to support their respective positions on the punitive damages claims. .

. Plaintiffs’ evidence, if taken alone, would allow a reasonable fact finder to

conclude Defendant had acted with deliberate disregard to Plaintiffs[’] rights
and/or safety. . . . Defendant staunchly defended its actions and provided a

' See EMO 1 for a discussion of the admissibility of Dr. Weed's testimony. (ECF No. 4079.)
9
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detailed accounting of the efforts it has undertaken over the years to safeguard
the public from possible contamination.

This Court cannot weigh these competing contentions and draw conclusions about

the evidence, that is not the function of the Court on a motion for summary

judgment. The Court is not prepared to conclude that no rational trier of fact

could find for the Plaintiffs on their punitive damages claims.
Id at 20-21.

Similarly, in the case sub judice, believing the Trial Plaintiff’s evidence as true and
drawing all justifiable inferences in their favor, a reasonable jury could find the evidence shows
that DuPont knew that C-8 was harmful, that it purposefully manipulated or used inadequate
scientiﬁc studies to support its position, and/or that it provided false information to the public
about the dangers of C-8. If the jury came to those conclusions, it could reasonably find the
evidence clearly and convincingly showed that DuPont’s conscious disregard of the rights and
safety of the Leach Class had a great probability of causing substantial harm and/or that its
actions were done maliciously, wantonly, mischievously, or with criminal indifference to civil
obligations. Consequently, there are genuine issues of material fact that prevent this Court from
determining the punitive damages issue as a matter of law.

1v.

Based on the foregoing, the Court DENIES Defendant’s Motion for Partial Summary
J udgment on Punitive Damages in the Bartlett and Wolf Cases. (ECF No. 2825.)

IT IS SO ORDERED.

£ 142015 N

DATE EDMUND A. SARGUS, JR.
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

10
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION

INRE: E. I. DU PONT DE
NEMOURS AND COMPANY C-§

PERSONAL INJURY LITIGATION,
Civil Action 2:13-md-2433

CHIEF JUDGE EDMUND A. SARGUS,; JR.
Magistrate Judge Elizabeth Preston Deavers

This document relates to:

Bartlettv. E, I. du Pont de Nemours and
Company, Case No. 2:13-CV-0170

DISPOSITIVE MOTIONS ORDER NO. 11

Defendant’s Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law on Punitive Damages

This matter is before the Court on Defendant’s Motion for J udgment as a Matter of Law
on Carla Marie Bartlett’s Claims (“Rule 50 Motion”) (ECF No. 4227), Plaintiffs’ Memorandum
in Opposition (ECF No. 4229), and DuPont’s Reply Brief (ECF No. 4230). For the reasons that
follow, the Court DENIES Defendant’s Motion.

I

Mrs. Bartlett alleges that she is a member of the class (“Leach Class™) of individuals who
are permitted uﬁder a contractual agreement (“Leach Settlement Agreement”) to file claims
against Defendant E. 1. du Pont de Nemours and Company (“DuPont”) based on ijuries that
they believe were caused by their exposure to ammonium perfluorooctanoate (“C-8” or “PF 0A™)
discharged from DuPont’s Washington Works plant. (Leach Settlement Agreement; ECF No.
820-8.) Thé Leach Settlement Agreement established a panel of appropriately credentialed

epidemiologists (“Science Panel”) to study whether there was a link between the human diseases
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among the Leach Class and their consumption of the drinking water that had been contaminated
with C-8. Jd. §§ 12.2.1, 12.2.2. In 2011 and 2012, the Science Panel delivered Probable Link
Findings for six human diseases (“Linked Diseases™). Mrs. Bartlett alleges that she suffered
from kidney cancer, which is one of the Linked Diseases.

Mrs. Bartlett and the other plaintiffs in the approximately 3500 cases in this multidistrict
litigation (“MDL”) have alleged, inter alia, claims for personal injury and punitive damages.
Mrs. Bartlett’s trial began on September 14, 2015, and is the first bellwether trial in this MDL.
DuPont had previously moved for summary judgment on all of the claims brought by Mrs.
Bartlett. (ECF Nos. 3973, 4113, 41 85, 4211.) Her claims for negligence, battery, negligent
infliction of emotional distress, and punitive damages survived DuPont’s motions. At the close
of testimony on September 24, 2015, DuPont moved for judgment as a matter of law on all of
these claims and objected to Mrs. Bartlett’s counsels’ questioning of the witnesses “about
DuPont’s alleged failure to disclose” information about the harmful effects of C-8 because it is
“Is irrelevant and prejudicial, and it underscores Plaintiff’s lack of faith in her own case.”
(DuPont’s Rule 50 Mot. at 1.) DuPont provided the Court with a written motion that has since
been filed.

The Court recessed to review DuPont’s Rule 50 Motion. The Court then reconvened and
took oral argument on the Motion. From the bench the Court denied DuPont’s Motion as it
related to Mrs. Bartlett’s negligence, battery, and emotional distress claims. The Court indicated
that there had been no change in the evidence offered since it had issued its decisions on
summary judgment with regard to those claims. That 1s, Mrs. Bartlett presented evidence that
raised genuine issues of material fact as to each of these claims at the summary judgment

Jjuncture and has now done the same at trial.
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The Court held in abeyance its decision on the punitive damages claim until the parties’
briefed the issue. On September 26, 2015, Mrs. Bartlett filed her memorandum in opposition to
the punitive damages portion of DuPont’s Rule 50 Motion and on September 27, 201 5, DuPont
filed its reply brief.

II.

Under Rule 50 of the Federal Rule of Civi] Procedure, if a party has been “fully heard on
an issue” and the trial court finds that a reasonable jury would not have a legally sufficient
evidentiary basis to find for the party on that issue, the court may: (a) resolve the issue against
the party; and (b) grant a motion for Judgment as a matter of law on any claim that is dependent
upon that issue. Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(a)(1). The inquiry for resolving a motion for Jjudgment as a
matter of law pursuant to Rule 50 is the same as the inquiry for resolving a motion for summary
judgment pursuant to Rule 56. Reeves v, Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 150
(2000); White v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry., 364 F.3d 789, 794 (6th Cir. 2004). Evidence is
viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and the court must determine if there
s a genuine issue of material fact for the Jjury. White, 364 F.3d at 794. “[A]lthough the court
should review the record as a whole, it must disregard all evidence favorable to the moving party
that the jury is not required to believe.” Reeves, 530 U.S. at 151 (citation omitted).

I

DuPont posits that Mrs. Bartlett has been fully heard on her case and judgment as a

matter of law is warranted because there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a jury to

find for her on her claim of punitive damages.
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A. Punitive Damages Standard

As this Court stated in Dispositive Motions Order No. 7 (“DMO 77), under Ohio law
punitive damages are recoverable in a tort action when compensatory damages have already been
awarded and “the actions or omissions of th[e] defendant demonstrate malice or aggravated or
egregious fraud.” (ECF No. 4185) (quoting Ohio Rev. Code § 2315.21(C)). An Ohio plaintiff
bears the burden of establishing by clear and convincing evidence that he or she is entitled to
recover punitive damages. /d. §2315.21(D)(4); Charles R. Combs Trucking, Inc. v. Int’l
Harvester Co., 12 Ohio St. 3d 241, 245 (1984). The Ohio Supreme Court established the
punitive damages standard in Preston v. Murty:

We therefore hold that actual malice, necessary for an award of punitive damages,

is (1) that state of mind under which a person’s conduct is characterized by

hatred, ill will or a spirit of revenge, or (2) a conscious disregard for the rights and

safety of other persons that has a great probability of causing substantial harm.

32 Ohio St. 3d 334, 336 (1987). The parties.in the instant action direct their arguments to the

latter definition.
The Preston court also directed that

before submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury, a trial court must
review the evidence to determine if reasonable minds can differ as to whether the
party was aware his or her act had a great probability of causing substantial harm.
Furthermore, the court must determine that sufficient evidence is presented
revealing that the party consciously disregarded the injured party’s rights or
safety. If submitted to the jury, the trial court should give an instruction in
accordance with the law we announce today.

ld.
B. Analysis
DuPont contends that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law because
[a]t the conclusion of her case, Plaintiff has submitted no evidence (much less

clear and convincing evidence) that DuPont acted with the requisite malice by
showing a conscious disregard for Plaintiff’s health and safety, and that DuPont
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knew there was “near certainty” of substantial harm. Indeed, all of the evidence
demonstrates that DuPont regularly and diligently analyzed the potential health
impacts of C-8 for decades and, on the basis of this careful evaluation, DuPont
never believed that the low levels of C-8 observed in the community were likely
to cause any harm.

(DuPont’s Rule 50 Mot. at 4.) This Court, however, disagrees.

First, DuPont points out that in her opposition memorandum “Mrs. Bartlett fails to
address, much less mention, the ‘near certainty’ test applied by the Ohio Supreme Court and by
district courts in this Circuit when evaluating demands for punitive damages.” (DuPont’s Reply
at 1) (emphasis removed). In its Rule 50 Motion, DuPont set out this standard as follows:

“For punitive aamages to be appropriate . . . [s]ubstantial harm must be a

near certain consequence of the defendant’s actions.” Terek v. Finkbiner, 2015

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124939, at *6 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 18, 2015) (emphasis added)

(citing Motorists Mut. Inc. Co. v. Said, 590 N.E.2d 1228 (Ohio 1992)); see also

Kuebler v. Gemini Transp., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 172769, at *12 (8.D. Ohio

Dec. 9, 2013) (actual malice “requires consciousness of the near certainty [] that

substantial harm will be caused by the tortious behavior™).
(DuPont’s Rule 50 Mot, at 4.)

In reviewing the test first set forth in Preston v. Murty, the Ohio Supreme Court has
indicated that “near certainty” and “great probability” are simply two ways of articulating the
same concept. Motorists Mut. Inc. Co. v. Said, 63 Ohio St. 3d at 696 (“malice requires
consciousness of the near certainty, or otherwise stated ‘great probability,’ that substantial harm
will be caused by the tortious behavior”). Thus, the Court finds no improper avoidance of the
applicable standard in Mrs. Bartlett’s memorandum in opposition by referring to only to the
phrase “great probability” instead of “near certainty.”

Second, DuPont contends that Mrs. Bartlett is attempting to breathe life into a failure to

disclose cause of action that this Court dismissed on summary judgment. The Court disagrees
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with this assessment. As this Court has explained when evaluating punitive damages claims

under Ohio law:
The Ohio Supreme Court has also noted that “it is rarely possible to prove
actual malice otherwise than by conduct and surrounding circumstances.” Villella

v. Waikem Motors, Inc., 45 Ohio St. 3d 36, 543 N.E.2d 464, 466-67 (Ohio 1989)

(citing Davis v. Tunison, 168 Ohio St. 471, 155 N.E.2d 904, 907 (Ohio 1959),

overruled on other grounds in Moskovitz v. Mt. Sinai Medical Center, 69 Ohio St.

3d 638, 1994 Ohio 324, 635 N.E.2d 331 (Ohio 1994)).

“[Alctual malice may be inferred from conduct and surrounding
circumstances which may be characterized as reckless, wanton, willful or gross.”

Id. at 467 [(citing Columbus Finance, Inc. v. Howard, 42 Ohio St. 2d 178, 184

(1975); Rubeck v. Huffman, 54 Ohio St. 2d 20, 23 (1978))].

Pullins v. Klimley, Case No. 3:05-CV-082, Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) P94, 551, 2008 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 3467, at *116 (S.D. Ohio Jan. 7,2008). Thus, the evidence related to DuPont’s
possession of information that it chose not to dissemninate to the public or to disseminate in
limited fora while simultaneously depositing C-8 into drinking water sources informs the “actual
malice” determination the jury must make.

Third, with regard to the evidence that Mrs. Bartlett has offered to support her punitive
damages claim, it is generally the same evidence that this Court found raised genuine issues of
material fact necessitating submission of the claim to the jury. (DMO 7 at 7-8.) Initially, the
Court notes that it is undisputed that DuPont discharged C-8 into the environment around the
Washington Works plant, including into the Ohio River, resulting in the contamination of area
drinking water supplies. (See Sept. 23, 2015 Tr. at 33:7-22; 40:11-15 (Dr. Petty testified that
DuPont was dumping tens of thousands of pounds C-8 into the Ohio River); 48:5-12; (DuPont

was discharging more than 80 percent of its C-8 input back into the environment); P1.13001

(charts demonstrating increasing C-8 emissions into the environment between 1951 and 2000)).
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DuPont also admits that it knows of no other source of C-8 that contributed to the contamination
of Mrs. Bartlett’s drinking water. (Sept. 28, 2015 Tr. Admission Read Into Record.)

At trial, Mrs. Bartlett offered evidence that DuPont released the C-8 into the Ohio River,
despite its own internal 1991 memorandum that stated that C-8 should not be discharged to
surface water, (P1.925.6; Sept. 23, 2015 Tr. at 116:21-1 17:4), and a 1986 warning by the 3M
Company, the manufacturer of the C-8, that C-8 should only be disposed of through incineration
at a specially designated, properly lined, landfill for hazardous chemicals, (D265; Sept. 16, 2015
Tr. at 2-40:15 to 2-41:1; see also Sept. 23, 2015 Tr. at 7-110:1-5 (Mrs. Bartlett’s expert witness
Stephen E. Petty, P.E., C.LLH., C.S.P.! testified that from an industrial hygiene standpoint and
environmental risk assessment standpoint, DuPont should have followed 3M’s recommendation).
That warning from 3M Company came on the second page of a 2-page Material Safety Data
Sheet (“MSDS™), which is a formal document that is required by the United States Occupational
Safety and Healfh Administration that contains information about the characteristics and actual
or potential hazards of exposure to chemicals, or other potentially dangerous substances, and
information on safe working procedures when handling chemical products, storage, disposal, and
how to respond effectively to exposure situations. MSDS, Business Dictionary.com,
http://www. businessdictionary.com/ definition/material-safety-data-sheet-

MSDS html#ixzz3n7xpOnz5. (P1.823.21.) DuPont did not dispose of the C-8 in either of the
two recommended manners and instead released the C-8 into surface waters, unlined landfills,
and the air in ever increasing amounts. (Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-57:21-24.) Dr. Petty testified
that to properly incinerate C-8 would only have cost less than 0.2 percent of the Washington

Works’ annual operating cost. Jd. at 7-96:5-23. DuPont provided information to the West

' Mr. Petty is a chemical engineer with experience in industrial health and safety, forensic engineering, and
environmental engineering. Mr, Petty is a Certified Professional Engineer, a Certified Industrial Hygienist, and a

Certified Safety Professional.
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Virginia environmental regulators about C-8 by providing them with only the first pagé of the
MSDS. The information on safe disposal was on the second page of the MSDS that DuPont did
not provide to the regulators. (P1.823.21; Sept. 18, 2015 Ir. 4-205:9-16.)

Mrs. Bartlett highlights in her opposition memorandum, some of the additional evidencg
presented at trial that she contends supports her punitive damages claim as follows:

¢ DuPont was aware of C-8’s toxicity as early as the 1950s. (See, e.g., P1.309;
P1.513; P1.567; P1.568; Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-35:12 to 2-36:23.)

¢ In the 1960s, DuPont had knowledge that C-8 was toxic and had adverse liver
effects in dogs and rats. (See, e.g., P1.567; P1-568; Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-53:17-
22.)

° By 1966, DuPont was aware that C-8 could leach into groundwater, (see, eg.,
Sept. 23, 2015 Tr. 125:24-126:10), and by 1991 was aware that groundwater
monitoring outside the unlined landfill it was using to dispose of C-8 were
showing high concentrations of C-8 meaning that C-8 had escaped the landfill and
was in the groundwater, (see, e.g., Sept. 23, 2015 Tr. 125:7-23.)

* In 1978, an article authored by DuPont’s Medical Director, Dr. Bruce Karrh,

was published in which Dr. Karrh acknowledged that DuPont has a duty to report

potential health hazards related to the materials it handles at its manufacturing
- facilities. (P1.8016.)

* In 1978, DuPont initiated a program measuring C-8 levels in the blood of
workers potentially exposed to C-8, and assessing potential health effects that
may be correlated with C-8 exposure. (See, e.g., P1.8016.) DuPont tested its own
workers while ignoring risks to the community, (See, e.g., Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-
89:25 to 2-90:5.)

* DuPont established an Acceptable Exposure Limits ("AEL”) Committee,
consisting of those who DuPont considers to be experts in toxicology, industrial
hygiene, occupational medicine, pathology, and epidemiology, which assists in
DuPont’s efforts to perform continuing risk analysis of chemicals used by DuPont
at its facilities, such as C-8. (See, e.g., P1.359; P1.353(C))

¢ By 1979, DuPont set a provisional AEL for C-8 at 0.01 mg/m3. (See, e.g.,
P1.359) Also in 1979, DuPont conducted a study which concluded that monkeys
died when subjected to a 30 mg/kg day dosage of C-8. (See, e.g., Sept. 16, 2015
Tr. at 2-159:24 to 2-160-3.)
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= By 1980, DuPont was aware that fluorides were detected in the blood of its own
employees. (See, e.g., P1.420; P1.360.) Despite this knowledge, DuPont did not
notify the surrounding communities of the dangers associated w1th C-8. (See,
e.g., Sept. 16,2015 Tr. at 2-74:1-15.)

= In 1982, DuPont was aware that C-8 is bioaccumulative and “is retained in the
blood for a long time,” (P1.363), and cautioned its employees about donating
blood, (see, e.g., Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-80:1-9.)

* In 1982, DuPont was aware that C-8 was being emitted into the local community
and Ohio River from its plant emissions, with DuPont’s own Medical Director
writing that “[t]here is obviously great potential for current or future exposure of
members of the local community from emissions leaving the Plant perimeter” and
that all “available practical steps be taken to reduce this exposure.” (P1.1.363; see
e.g., also (P1.3183.2 (DuPont Medical Director noting “need to continue to pursue
those programs aimed at reducing the public exposure to C-8 as vigorously as we
can” in June 1987).)

* By 1984, DuPont was aware that C-8 was present in local drinking water

supplies, (see, e.g., Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-86:10-11), and, during a DuPont C-8

meeting in Wilmington in May 1984, “there was consensus reached that the issue

which will decide future action is one of corporate image, and corporate liability .
. as we are already liable for the past 32 years of operation,” (P1.366).

* In 1986, DuPont was specifically wamed by 3M that C-8 should only be
disposed of through incineration or disposal at a proper landfill, which means that
disposal into water bodies is not a proper disposal method. (D265; Sept. 16, 2015
Tr. at 2-40:15 to 2-41:1.)

* DuPont was aware of the biopersistence of C-8 as early as 1984. (See, e.g.,
Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-85:25-2 to 2-86:1.)

° Although DuPont was aware of replacement technologies that could have
reduced or even eliminated emissions of C-8 into the environment by 1984,
DuPont did not do so in order to save money. (See, e.g., Sept. 23, 2015 Tr.
131:18; 136:20-137:5; 147:25-148:2.)

* According to Plaintiff’s expert, [Michael B. Siegel, M.D., M.P.H.],” “|DuPont]
had evidence of a substantial risk to the community” by 1984. (Sept. 17, 2015 Tr.
at 3-30:5-6.) Dr. Siegel also testified that, even though DuPont conducted its own
studies regarding the toxicity of C-8, DuPont “didn’t communicate [the results]”
and “[wlhen they found out that there were substantial hazards, they didn’t
communicate that to the public. (Sept. 17, 2015 Tr. at 3-76:6-10.)

? Dr. Siegel is an epidemiologist, public health specialist, and medical doctor.

9
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* In 1986 DuPont was warned that C-8 should only be disposed of through
incineration or disposal at a proper landfill, (see, e.g., D265; 2-40:15 to 2-41 1),
but DuPont chose not to dispose of C-8 in either of these recommended manners,
(see, e.g., Sept. 16, 2015 Tr. at 2-57:21-24), even though there was “no reason it
couldn’t have been applied to [the C-8] waste stream in that time frame” (Sept.
23,2015 Tr. 47:14-21).

* On October 20, 1986, a DuPont employee noted that “Wilmington management
is concerned about the possible liability resulting from long-term C-8 exposure to
its employees and to the population in the surrounding communities those down-
river from the {Washington Works] plant.” (P1.823.)

¢ By July 1987, DuPont recognized the need to establish “maximum safe C-8 in
blood and C-8 in drinking water levels” and that, “once a safe level is established,
those personnel exceeding 50% of this level will be required to be removed from
the exposure area.” (Sept. 23, 2015 Tr. 7-59:6 to 7-61:5.)

* In 1988, DuPont recognized C-8 as a “small ¢” or possible human carcinogen
and recommended a Community Exposure Guideline (“CEG™) for C-§ of 1 ppb in
community drinking water. (See, e.g., P1.372.) Despite DuPont’s knowledge that
C-8 was a possible carcinogen, DuPont failed to notify regulatory agencies or the
community. (See, e.g., Sept. 16 Tr. at 2-60:3-10, 2-65:11-18, 2-86:6-8.)

* In 1989 DuPont was aware of excess kidney and other urinary cancers among its
Washington Works employees. (See, e.g., P1.2538.2.)

* Despite being aware of the presence of C-8 in public drinking water supplies as
early as 1984, DuPont never publicly disclosed the contamination to area water
consumers, through at least 1991, even though it had prepared standby press
releases that were drafted to inform the public about the contamination. (See, e.g.,
P1.519)

* DuPont understood that persons exposed to C-8 would be accumulating C-8 in
their blood, (see, e.g., Sept. 26, 2015 Tr. at 2-28:23 to 2-29:16), and, in 1992, was
concerned that “toxicity issues associated with C-8 exposure could turn it into the
#1 DuPont torte [sic] issue,” (P1.8276.2).

* By 1988, certain DuPont employees possessed data indicating that the total
number of observed and expected cancer cases from 1956 through 1983 among
DuPont’s Washington Works plant male employees indicated observed levels of
both kidney and testicular cancer cases among such employees that were higher
than what DuPont characterized as “expected” for such employees. (P1 .2538.)

* In 1991, DuPont knew it exceeded its own standards for C-8 in drinking water in

samples taken from the Lubeck Public Water District but did not advise those
actually drinking the water of such infermation. (See, e.g., P1.1517.)

10
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° In 1995, an internal DuPont documents states: “We are concerned about the
potential long-term human health effects of these materials considering they all
appear to have long biological half lives.” (See, e.g., P1.2094.)

* By 1999, DuPont was aware that acute C-8 exposure had adverse human health
effects via ingestion, inhalation or dermal contact and communicated this to its
employees. (P1.320; P1.360.)

* In November 2000, DuPont’s in-house counsel handling C-8 litigation matters,
John Bowman, sent an email to DuPont’s General Counsel stating: “Getting out
in front and acting responsibly can undercut and reduce the potential for
punitives. Bernie and 1 have been unsuccessful in even engaging the clients in
any meaningful discussion on the subject. Our story is not a good one, we
continue to increase our emission into the river in spite of internal commitments
to reduce or eliminate the release of this chemical into the community and the
environment because of our concern about the biopersistence of this chemical.”
(P1.176.)

« In November 2000, Mr. Bowman stated “we need to make more of an effort to
get the business to look into what we can do to get the Lubeck community a clean
source of water or filter the C-8 out of the water.” (P1.176.)

= In 2001, DuPont’s in-house counsel handling C-8 environmental matters,
Bernard Reilly, states in an email: “We also have learned that not only do we have
people drinking our famous surfactant, but levels in the ambient air above our
guidelines . . . we should have checked this years ago and take steps to remedy.”
(P1.5368.)

» Mr. Reilly also confirmed in 2001 that “our analytical technique [for measuring
C-8 in water] has very poor recovery, often 25%, so any results we get should be
multiplied by a factor of 4 or 5. However, that has not been the practice, so we
have been telling the agencies results that surely are low. Not a pretty situation,
especially since we have been telling the drinking water folks not to worry, results
have been under the level we deem ‘safe’ of 1 ppb.” (P1.17.) On this same issue,
Mr. Reilly also stated in 2001 “we are exceeding the levels we say we set as our
own guideline, mostly because no one bothered to do the air modeling until now,
and our water test has [been] completely inadequate .... I have been telling the

business to get out all the bad news . ... Too bad the business wants to hunker
down as though everything will not come out in the litigation, god knows how
they could be so clueless .. ..” (P1.93.)

« In 2003, despite DuPont’s knowledge of the dangers associated with C-8,
DuPont adopted a C-8 Communications Plan that would “not raise
‘awareness/concerns where there are none.” (P1.5053.)

11
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* By 2004, DuPont was aware of very high levels of C-8 in the blood of

community members who drank C-8 contaminated water but did not report that

information to regulators. (P1.558.8). According to [United States

Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA™)] there was also evidence that DuPont

“became aware of levels of [C-8] exceeding 1 ppb coming out of the tap in homes

in the 1980’s but did not report those data to EPA as required by TSCA.” (Id.)

¢ In 2004, DuPont’s in-house toxicologist, Dr. Rickard stated that “[C-8] is not a

human carcinogen and there are not known health effects associated with [C-8]. . .

. In fact, the more we study [C-8] the more confident we are in our conclusions

that [C-8] is safe.” (P1.352)) According to Plaintiff’s expert, “this is an

irresponsible statement for [DuPont] to make in the year 2003 to say that there are

no health effects, because at that point the evidence clearly showed that there was

actually substantial potential health risks. And so to say no health effects is

basically drawing a conclusion that wasn’t warranted by the data and is very

misleading to the public.” (Sept. 18 Tr. at 192:18-24.)

« If DuPont had provided EPA with the information it possessed regarding C-8,

EPA very well might have regulated the chemical much sooner (See, e.g., Sept.

17 Tr. at 3-25:12-25; P1.558.)

(P1.’s Mem. in Opp. at 15-19.) Mrs. Bartlett also offered as evidence of the administrative
proceeding that the EPA initiated against DuPont in 2004, in which the EPA alleged that DuPont
failed to comply with certain reporting requirements relating to C-8 under certain federal statutes
and that the EPA’s efforts to investigate C-8 might have been more expeditious if the data had
been received sooner.

DuPont takes issue with this evidence, highlighting for example, Dr. Siegel’s testimony
in which he “acknowledge[ed] that there were ‘[n]o known health effects’ from C-8 during the
period in question,” and that he merely testified that “DuPont should have been aware of a
‘potential” health risk,” (Reply at 2-3) (citing Sept. 18, 2015 Trial Tr. at 270:11-12), and that he
did not “believe that there were adequate studies done to answer the question of whether it was
harmful until the -- some of these studies in the late 2000s when they had a huge number of

Samples,” Sept. 18, 2015 Trial Tr. at 270:2-6 (emphasis added). DuPont contends that this and

other highlighted testimony of Mr. Petty cannot be a relied upon to show a “conscious disregard

12
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of the near certainty of substantial harm when Plaintiff’s own expert admits that there was still a
question about whether there was any harm at all.” (DuPont Reply at 4.) DuPont maintains this
testimony is dissimilar to those in the cases relied upon by Mrs. Bartlett that show a defendant
had actual knowledge that harm was nearly certain to occur, and each nevertheléss went through
with its conduct that injured the plaintiffs. See Solly v. Manville Corp., No. 91-3081, 91-3196,
91-3082, 1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 14030, *20-21 (6th Cir. 1992) (summarizing “substantial
evidence” showing that “defendant had knowledge of the hazards of asbestos exposure” and
“acted in conscious disregard of the injured parties’ safety); Gillham v. Admiral Corp., 523 F.2d
102, 109 (6th Cir. 1975) (finding that defendant “was informed” of the risks, but failed to alter its
conduct “[i]n spite of this knowledge”). Again, this Court disagrees.

Taken in context, Dr. Siegel’s testimony related to his opinion that the information
DuPont had in its possession was sufficient to put it on notice that substantial harm was nearly
certain if it continued to release C-8 into the environment. Taking his testimony in the context of
the questioning and the exchange with counsel, and viewing it as the Court must in the light most
favorable to Mrs. Bartlétt, Dr. Siegel’s testimony supports Mrs. Bartlett’s claim that she is
entitled to punitive damages.

Additionally, the Court agrees with Mrs. Bartlett that this case is analogous to those she
relied upon such as Solly, in which the Sixth Circuit evaluated similar evidence and found it
sufficient to send the claim to the jury:

Roby asserts that there was substantial testimony that defendant knew about the
probable hazards of exposure to asbestos. For example, in a letter dated March
12, 1943, to defendant’s director of research, it was stated that Kaylo had the
makings of “a first class hazard.” There was another letter in November 1944 in
which the director of one of defendant's laboratories was told that Kaylo
constituted a hazard “either to employees engaged in the manufacture of it or to
others in the use or installation of it.” There were also tests which found
“unmistakable evidence of asbestosis” in laboratory animals. There was

13
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additional evidence which, in total, suggested that defendant had knowledge of

the hazards of asbestos exposure, yet permitted its continued use without warning

to those exposed to the product. This evidence substantially supported a

conclusion that defendant acted in conscious disregard of the injured parties'

safety.
1992 U.S. App. LEXIS 14030, at *20-21.

The evidence before this Court in total, viewing it as required under Rule 50, is similar in
that a reasonable jury could find that DuPont has known since the 1960s that C-8 is toxic, has
known since the 1970s that it will build up, accumulate, and persist in the blood of humans
exposed, has known since 1984 that C-8 was in community drinking water supplies near its
Washington Works plant, knew that the “low levels” of C-8 in the water would accumulate in the
blood of an individual to a level that was not being measured, did not inform the public or
regulators of this knowledge, failed to utilize the best available scientific methodology to test the
toxicity of C-8, had recommendations from its medical director, lawyers, epidemiologists,
toxicologists, and peer review boards to stop and/or reduce the amount of C-8 released into the
environment because of the known and foreseeable risks, and continued to increase C-8 releases
in significant amounts.

Based on the foregoing, and the additional evidence presented at trial and not specified
supra, the Court finds that “reasonable minds can differ as to whether [DuPont] was aware [its]
act[s] had a great probability of causing substantial harm. . . . [and] that sufficient evidence [has
been] presented revealing that [DuPont] consciously disregarded [Mrs. Bartlett]’s rights or
safety.” Preston v. Murty, 32 Ohio St. 3d at 336. Accordingly, a reasonable Jury would have a
legally sufficient evidentiary basis to find for Mrs. Bartlett on her punitive damages claim.

The Court emphasizes that it has merely determined that there is sufficient evidence for

the jury to consider punitive damages. The Court makes no finding as to whether Mrs. Bartlett is

14
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entitled to such damages. If, and only if, the jury finds in favor of Mrs. Bartlett, the same jury
will decide if she is entitled to punitive damages, and if so, an appropriate amount.
Iv.

For the reasons set forth above, the Court DENIES DuPont’s Rule 50 Motion. (ECF No.
4227)

I'T IS SO ORDERED.

0-1-)01S /\/[fi \

DATE EDMUND A. SARGUS, JR.
CHIEF UNITED-STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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